
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA :
:
: CRIMINAL NO. 12-003 (JDB)

v. :
:
:

HARRY L. THOMAS JR., :
:

Defendant. :

UNITED STATES’ MEMORANDUM IN AID OF SENTENCING

Defendant Harry L. Thomas Jr. is before the Court for sentencing, having pleaded guilty

to stealing more than $350,000 from the District of Columbia and for failing to report that money

on his income tax returns.  Thomas breached the public trust by stealing money from the very

people he was elected to serve.  Even worse, as Thomas secretly stole money earmarked for

youth-enrichment programs, he publicly portrayed himself as a champion of underprivileged

children.  His corrupt conduct tarnished the reputation of the Council of the District of Columbia

(“Council”) and posed a serious distraction to the operations of the city government.   It is for1

these reasons, among others, that the government respectfully recommends that the Court impose

a sentence of 46 months of imprisonment, followed by three years of supervised release, an order

to pay restitution, and an order of forfeiture consistent with the terms of the parties’ plea

agreement. 

  See Press Release, Mary M. Cheh, Councilmember Cheh Again Calls for Thomas to1

Step Down (Jan. 5, 2012), available at http://www.marycheh.com (“I was one of three
Councilmembers to acknowledge that the on-going investigation into his misdeeds was a serious
distraction from our legislative work and called for him to step down.”); Press Release, Muriel
Bowser, Bowser Calls on Colleague to Resign (Jan. 5, 2012), available at 
http://dcclims1.dccouncil.us/bowser/downloads  (“The Council must return its focus to the
business of governing our City.”).
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Background

Thomas was elected as the Ward 5 representative to the Council in November 2006 and

took office in January 2007.  Presentence Investigation Report (“PSR”) ¶ 19.  Thomas’s ensuing

self-dealing began almost immediately after Thomas assumed public office, was extensive, and is

set forth in detail in the Statement of the Offense.  However, the crux of his misconduct involved

using Public-Private Partnership #1, a non-profit dedicated to providing resources to D.C. youth

and largely dependent on public funds, as a conduit for earmarking money to himself via local

non-profit organizations.  Thomas has admitted to directing Public-Private Partnership #1 to

make five grants to non-profits that in turn funneled grant funds to two corporations he

controlled:  Team Thomas and HLT Development.  Thomas then treated the grant funds as

personal income, to be spent as he pleased.  Each of these grants is addressed in detail below.

The first grant funds Thomas diverted to himself came from Organization #1, which

provided an arts-oriented youth program in Ward 5 in the summer of 2007.  PSR ¶ 34.  Within

weeks of taking office, Thomas promised Organization #1’s head, Individual #1, that he could

secure $60,000 to fund this program, but he demanded a $15,000 kickback.  See PSR ¶ 35. 

Thomas then directed Public-Private Partnership #1 to issue a $60,000 grant to Organization #1.

PSR ¶ 36.  Individual #1 used that money to write a check for $15,000, as Thomas demanded,

and a second check for $10,000, both to HLT Development, which Thomas then used for his

personal benefit.  PSR ¶¶ 36-38.  Thomas had no legitimate claim to this money; it was pure

graft.

The second grant occurred in December 2007 when Thomas directed Public-Private

Partnership #1 to award Langston in the 21  Century Foundation (“Langston 21” – identified asst
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Organization #2 in the Statement of the Offense) a grant for $392,000 for youth sports programs. 

The source of the funding was a $400,000 earmark for “youth baseball programs” to Public-

Private Partnership #1 in the Specified Funding Allocations Act of 2007, which Thomas had

voted to approve as a member of the Council.  PSR ¶¶ 39-40.  Public-Private Partnership #1

disbursed $392,000 to Langston 21 at Thomas’s direction.  From that grant money, Langston 21

funneled $306,000 to HLT Development and/or Team Thomas to be used without oversight.  See

PSR ¶¶ 40, 44.  Thomas used this $306,000 to purchase, among other things, a $69,149.60 Audi

luxury sport-utility vehicle, a $24,245.80 Victory Motorcycle, expensive clothing, restaurant

meals, and luxury vacations, among other personal items.  PSR ¶ 45.

Thomas did not disclose to the Council or Public-Private Partnership #1 his intent to

divert $306,000 of the $400,000 earmark to his personal corporations.  PSR ¶ 40.  Instead, he

used the resources provided to him as a Council member to perpetrate and conceal the theft. 

Thomas directed a member of his staff who had previously worked for many years at the

Department of Parks and Recreation (“DPR”), Staff Member #1, to prepare and submit

paperwork to Public-Private Partnership #1 that was required to trigger disbursements of grant

funds.  PSR ¶¶ 23, 42.  This paperwork falsely represented that the grant funds had been used to

conduct sporting events for youth when in truth and in fact little, if any, of the grant funds had

been used to support the events described in the report, and the events otherwise were conducted

using public resources, including Council staff or DPR staff or both, and funds obtained from

DPR.  PSR ¶ 42.  

The third grant concerned the expenses associated with the 51  State Inaugural Ball, anst

event at the John A. Wilson Building to celebrate the inauguration of President Barack Obama

-3-

Case 1:12-cr-00003-JDB   Document 16    Filed 04/27/12   Page 3 of 20



that was held at 10:00 p.m. on the evening of the President’s inauguration.  PSR ¶ 61.  Thomas

was closely involved with planning the 51  State Inaugural Ball, which was organized byst

Political Organization #1 and a member of Thomas’s staff (Staff Member #2), who was also the

president of Political Organization #1.  PSR ¶¶ 32, 60-61.  After the event, Political Organization

#1 and Thomas did not have enough money to pay all of the vendors of the inauguration event,

including HLT Development, which had fronted $7,500 for entertainment expenses.  PSR ¶ 60.

Thomas directed Staff Member #1 to submit a budget and budget narrative to Public-Private

Partnership #1 to obtain $110,000 to fund the event held by Political Organization #1.  PSR ¶ 63. 

Thomas directed Staff Member #1 to exert pressure on DPR to transfer the accrued

balance in the Public Fund for Drug Prevention and Children at Risk, which is comprised of

monies from the voluntary tax check-off on District of Columbia individual income tax returns

for Drug Prevention and Children at Risk, to Public-Private Partnership #1.  PSR ¶¶ 58-59, 64. 

Thomas also directed Staff Member #1 to email Public-Private Partnership #1 to determine

whether he could pick up the check for $110,000.  

Thomas learned that it would be difficult for Public-Private Partnership #1 to issue a

check directly to Political Organization #1, as he had requested.  PSR ¶ 65.  Thomas then

contacted Individual #4 and asked if Organization #3, a non-profit that conducted youth

programs, would be willing to act as a pass through for the money.  PSR ¶ 66.  Thomas directed

Staff Member #1 to submit a grant application to Public-Private Partnership #1 that falsely

claimed the grant was to fund a youth-centered inaugural event associated with Organization #3,

when in truth and in fact the money was to fund the debts of the 51  State Inaugural Ball that hadst

occurred two weeks earlier with no assistance or involvement by Organization #3.  PSR ¶ 67. 
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Based on this paperwork, Public-Private Partnership #1 issued a $110,000 check to Organization

#3, which wired more than $100,000 of that money to Political Organization #1.  Staff Member

#2 then withdrew the funds to pay the debts from the event, including the $7,500 in expenses that

had been incurred by HLT Development, a Thomas-controlled entity.  PSR ¶ 68.

In sum, Thomas arranged for public grant funds to pay for the 51  State Inaugural Ball, ast

political event that already had occurred, was not a program directed at benefitting youth, and

was outside the scope of Public-Private Partnership #1’s mandate to serve D.C. children.  See

PSR ¶ 69.  Further, Thomas knew that the grant was issued based on false paperwork to an

organization that played no role in the event, in order to sidestep Public-Private Partnership #1’s

concerns about issuing a check directly to a political organization. See PSR ¶¶ 65-67. 

The fourth diverted grant occurred in August 2009 when Thomas directed Public-Private

Partnership #1 to issue a subsequent, $20,000 grant to Langston 21.  PSR ¶ 48.  Staff Member #1

sent a false work plan and a budget to Public-Private Partnership #1 in order to trigger the

$20,000 payment to Langston 21.  PSR ¶ 49.  Langston 21 wrote a $10,000 check to Team

Thomas from the $20,000 in grant funds.  PSR ¶ 50.  Thomas used the $10,000 for his personal

benefit.  Id.  Thomas then continued to press Public-Private Partnership #1 to issue an additional

$125,000 grant to Langston 21.  PSR ¶¶ 51-52.  However, the principals of Langston 21 refused

to acquire the money on Thomas’s behalf when they learned that Thomas planned yet again to

divert a large portion of the $125,000 to HLT and Team Thomas.  PSR ¶ 54.

Finally, in August 2009, Thomas directed Public-Private Partnership #1 to issue a

$10,000 grant to Organization #3 in support of a summer program.  PSR ¶ 55.  From that grant

money, Individual #4 issued a $5,000 check to HLT Development that Thomas used for his
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personal benefit.  PSR ¶¶  55-57.  The $5,000 in grant funds was not a reimbursement for any

services performed by HLT Development or Thomas, and Thomas did not disclose that he would

receive a portion of the grant funds when he directed Public-Private Partnership #1 to award a

grant to Organization #3.  Id.

In total, Thomas diverted to himself $353,500 – more than four times the average yearly

income for a family in his Ward  – in public funds dedicated to Public-Private Partnership #1. 2

Thomas accomplished this theft by directing and causing others to generate false paperwork,

among other things, and never disclosed to the Council or Public-Private Partnership #1 his own

financial interest in the grants.  His concealment and deception carried over to his income tax

returns, to which he falsely swore under penalty of perjury for the calendar years 2007, 2008, and

2009.  PSR ¶¶ 71-74.

Argument

A.  A Substantial Sentence is Appropriate Under the Sentencing
Guidelines and Section 3553(a).

The Court should impose a sentence that is “sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to

comply with the purposes” of sentencing set forth Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(a). 

A district court “should begin all sentencing proceedings by correctly calculating the applicable

Guidelines range.”  United States v. Gall, 552 U.S. 38, 49 (2007) (citation omitted).  As the

Court is aware, the Sentencing Guidelines represent a “heartland” for a particular criminal

offense – “a set of typical cases embodying the conduct that each guideline describes.”  See U.S.

Sentencing Guidelines Manual (“U.S.S.G.”), ch. 1, pt. A, comment 4(b).  Id.  Absent exceptional

  The average family income for a family in Ward 5 was $78,559 in 2005-2009.  See2

http://www.neighborhoodinfodc.org/wards/nbr_prof_wrd5.html.   

-6-

Case 1:12-cr-00003-JDB   Document 16    Filed 04/27/12   Page 6 of 20



circumstances, imposing a sentence within this heartland promotes fairness by helping to ensure

that individuals who engage in similar conduct are treated similarly in the federal criminal justice

system.   

In this case, Thomas repeatedly breached the public trust and corrupted the District

government for his own self-interest.  This conduct mandates a sentence at the top of the

stipulated Sentencing Guideline range.  

B.  The Applicable Sentencing Guidelines

In the plea agreement, the parties agreed that Thomas’s Sentencing Guidelines for Count

I, Theft Concerning Programs Receiving Federal Funds, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666, should

be calculated pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1 by assigning a base offense level of 6 and then adding

an additional 12 levels for a loss in excess of $200,000 pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1(b)(1)(G). 

PSR ¶ 6.  The parties further agreed to apply a two-level upward adjustment for abusing a

position of trust pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3, and an additional two-level upward adjustment for

playing an aggravating role in the offense pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.1(c).  PSR ¶ 6.  These

adjustments result in an offense level of 22 for Count I.

With respect to Count II, Filing a False Return, in violation of 26 U.S.C. § 7206(1), the

parties agreed to a base offense level of 16 pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 2T1.1(a)(1), considering a tax

loss of more than $80,000, and a two-level upward adjustment pursuant to U.S.S.G. §

2T1.1(b)(1) for failing to report a source of income exceeding $10,000 derived from criminal

activity.  PSR ¶ 6.  This analysis results in an offense level of 18 for Count II.  PSR ¶ 6.  Because

the counts do not group pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3D1.2, a multiple count adjustment pursuant to
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U.S.S.G. § 3D1.4 is applied.  Each of the two counts is counted as one unit, resulting in a

two-level increase in Thomas’s offense level and an adjusted offense level of 24.  PSR ¶ 6.  

Finally, the government agrees that a three-level reduction should be applied pursuant to

U.S.S.G. § 3E1.1, based on Thomas’s acceptance of responsibility.  Thomas’s total offense level

is therefore 21 and he is in criminal history category I.  PSR ¶ 7.  The stipulated Sentencing

Guideline range is from 37 to 46 months of imprisonment, with an applicable fine range of

$7,500-$75,000.  3

As noted above, the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range includes upward adjustments

for abusing a position of trust pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3, and playing an aggravating role in

the offense pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.1(c).  The government is recommending a sentence at the

top of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range because Thomas’s conduct calls for a sentence

that includes the full measure of these adjustments.

Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3B1.3, a two-level adjustment applies to any defendant who

abuses a position of public or private trust, or uses a special skill, in a manner that significantly

facilitates the commission or concealment of an offense.  This enhancement has been applied in

the D.C. Circuit to a defendant who claimed (falsely) to be a United States Marshal, an insurance

broker who acted as a fiduciary for the employee benefit plans from which he embezzled, and an

office manager at the Institute of International Economics.  See United States v. Brockenborrugh,

575 F.3d 726, 738-39 (D.C. Cir. 2010); United States v. Day, 524 F.3d 1361, 1374 (D.C. Cir.

  The Probation Officer’s calculation of the Sentencing Guidelines differs by one level3

from the parties’ stipulated Guidelines Sentence.  See PSR ¶¶ 70, 106.  The government is not
seeking, nor is it asking the Court to consider, any Sentencing Guidelines adjustments, including
based upon loss amount, not agreed to by the parties in the plea agreement. 
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2008); United States v. Becraft, 117 F.3d 1450, 1452-53 (D.C. Cir. 1997).  As a Council

member, Thomas held one of the highest elected offices in the District of Columbia.  He held a

greater position of trust, and his abuse of that trust was more profound, than those whose

betrayals merely affected a single corporate entity or transaction.  A sentence at the top of

Thomas’s stipulated Sentencing Guideline range is needed to reflect that distinction. 

Thomas also received a two-level increase to his offense level pursuant to U.S.S.G. §

3B1.1(c) for being an organizer, leader, manager or supervisor of criminal activity.  Both James

Garvin and Marshal Banks, the principals of Langston 21 (identified as Individuals #2 and #3 in

the Statement of the Offense), respectively, have entered felony pleas to Misprision of a Felony,

in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 4, for their roles in Thomas’s scheme.  Garvin is a former baseball

player at Howard University, general manager of Langston Golf Course, and an inductee into the

African American Golfers Hall of Fame.  He ran his own non-profit, the Jimmy Garvin All Stars,

that taught golf to disadvantaged children from the District and gave them opportunities to play

golf in the Bahamas and other locations.  Banks, who is over seventy years old, also has a

personal history filled with accomplishment and public service.  He was the first African-

American athlete to receive financial assistance from Morehead State University, and has served

as a professor at Howard University for over thirty years.  Banks founded Langston 21 in an

effort to use sports to promote academic learning with youth.  Neither Garvin nor Banks had any

contact with the criminal justice system prior to meeting Thomas.  

In committing his crimes, Thomas recruited and directed Garvin and Banks in the

activities leading to their prosecutions.  These men, who did not know Thomas in any meaningful

way before this scheme began, now will have felony convictions and must face sentencing before
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this Court.  Thomas’s willingness to use his political power to drive others to engage in criminal

activity that primarily benefitted Thomas is yet another reason why Thomas deserves a sentence

at the top of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range. 

C. The Section 3553(a) Factors Support a Sentence of Substantial
Imprisonment.

Under Title 18, United States Code, Section 3553(a), the Court should consider several

factors in arriving at an appropriate sentence, including (1) “the nature and circumstances of the

offense and the history and characteristics of the defendant,” (2) the need for the sentence

imposed to reflect the seriousness of the offense, to provide just punishment for the offense, to

afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct, to protect the public from further crimes of the

defendant, and to provide the defendant with needed correctional treatment, (3) the Sentencing

Guidelines and related Sentencing Commission policy statements, and (4) the need to avoid

unwarranted sentence disparities.  These factors, which are discussed in detail below, firmly

support a sentence at the upper end of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range.

(1) The Nature and Circumstances of Thomas’s Crimes

The nature and circumstances of Thomas’s offenses are detailed in the Statement of the

Offense and the above background section.  In any setting, stealing $353,000 is a serious crime. 

Here, the crime was even more serious because Thomas, a public official in whom the electorate

had placed its trust, targeted public funds that were designated for youth-enrichment programs

and, in the case of the Langston 21 grants, specifically earmarked to support “youth baseball

programs.”  Thomas knew full well the harm he was causing to the community by depriving it of

these funds.  As Thomas himself has said:
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[S]ports activities are just as important as classroom learning[.] . . . 
Sports help kids increase their self-esteem and confidence.  Sports
teach our kids self-discipline, teamwork, leadership and
cooperation, as well as how to share, handle stress and compete.  4

Our inner-city youngsters need exposure to a range of different
sports, including golf, softball, and baseball[.] . . . Excelling in a
particular sport can lead to an athletic scholarship to college.5

To make matters worse, while he was secretly stealing money dedicated to benefit children,

Thomas publicly portrayed himself as an advocate for D.C. youth.  In his newsletter to the Ward

5 community, Thomas declared, “[c]reating enriching and memorable experiences for our kids

brings me tremendous personal satisfaction and is one of the best aspects of my job.”   He was6

quoted in the Washington Post as saying, with respect to youth, “[w]e need to stop targeting

those who can’t defend themselves.”   Thomas made these declarations during the same period7

he was stealing money from the youth of D.C.

It also is significant that Thomas’s betrayal of his public office was not something

instigated by a third party.  Thomas was both the mastermind and the chief financial beneficiary

of his crimes.  Nor was he caught up in circumstances beyond his control or forced into a

criminal scheme by hardship.  

During these offenses, Thomas received a substantial salary from the city as a Council

member.  Notwithstanding his professional success, Thomas chose to steal taxpayer money

  Jillian S. Jarrett, Free Softball Clinics, Wash. Post. (Feb. 21, 2008).4

  Harry L. Thomas Jr., Councilmember Thomas Hosts Golf Tournament To Raise Funds5

For Inner City Youth Sports Program, The Thomas Connection (Oct. 2007).

  Harry L. Thomas Jr., Easter Bunny Comes to Ward 5's Fort Lincoln Field, The Thomas6

Connection (April 2008).

  Ashlee Clark, D.C. Council Rejects Earlier Youth Curfew, Wash. Post (June 22, 2007).7
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designated for youth, and spent that money on lavish personal expenses, including a $69,149.60

luxury car, a $24,245.80 touring motorcycle, a $1,072.99 golf outing at Pebble Beach Golf Links,

and three pairs of exotic shoes for $1,374.  PSR ¶ 45; (Exh. A).   Put simply, Thomas used public8

funds to live an extravagant lifestyle to the detriment of children in his Ward.  

(2) Thomas’s History and Characteristics

Thomas’s personal history presents both aggravating and mitigating factors.  The PSR

reveals that he has a supportive family, five children, and is a college graduate.  PSR ¶¶ 113-118. 

He is the son of a former Council member Harry Thomas Sr., who served three terms during the

1980s and 1990s.  When Thomas committed the present offenses, he was serving in the same

elected office his father once held.

Thomas deserves credit for pleading guilty at an early stage of these proceedings, before a

grand jury indictment was returned in the case.  By doing so, Thomas allowed the government

and the Court to conserve valuable resources that would have been expended had there been a

trial.  In addition, Thomas has a record of encouraging youth to participate in sports and

organizing youth sporting events.  Although Thomas spent most of the money he stole in this

case for his personal benefit, he also spent some money on expenses that benefitted others.  The

government has taken into account Thomas’s willingness to plead guilty and his history of work

in the community in fashioning the plea agreement, and he has received a substantial benefit.

That Thomas, a former elected public official with a history in public life, can

undoubtedly point to good deeds in his career is not surprising.  As the Supreme Court has noted,

  “Exh.” refers to the exhibits that the government intends to submit during the8

sentencing hearing.
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“[s]erving constituents and supporting legislation that will benefit the district and individuals and

groups therein is the everyday business of a legislator.”  McCormick v. United States, 500 U.S.

257, 272 (1991).  Thomas himself described his role as a Council member as that of a

“Quarterback” to “get resources” to his Ward.   Thomas’s day-to-day work as a Council member,9

dealing with constituents in his Ward and others, was just that: his job.  When viewed in light of

the crimes he committed throughout his tenure in office, the fact of Thomas’s public service in

no way counsels against a sentence at the upper end of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline

range.   In fact, it militates in the opposite direction, for it was the very fact of his position as an10

elected official that facilitated his scheme. 

In addition, Thomas’s public service has frequently been mixed with his personal

ambition.  Throughout his life, Thomas has “benefitted financially from his father’s position in

politics” and his own political or charitable activities within the City.   In 1987, he was paid11

$11,000 to lobby against a ballot initiative for deposits on soda cans; in 1992, he was awarded a

contract worth $20,000 to provide job training to D.C. youth.   Further, DPR records show that,12

in 2004, HLT Development received a $25,000 contract for services, a $24,975 contract to

conduct sports training camps, and a $24,236.50 for the sale of sporting goods equipment to the

District government.  DPR continued to issue contracts to Thomas until he assumed office in

  Gary Emerling, Council’s Fresh Starters; 3 Aim High For Schools, Economy In9

District, The Wash. Times (Dec. 10, 2006).

  Unlike many defendants who appear before this Court for sentencing, Thomas had the10

good fortune to have supportive parents who assisted him in his professional endeavors and the
support of family during his time as an elected official.  

  Alan Suderman, Family Business, Wash. City Paper (Sept. 2, 2011).11

  Id.12
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2007.  In 2005, HLT Development received a $24,975 contract for Thomas’s services as a

“sports clinician,” and a $48,472 contract for sporting goods equipment.  (Exh. B).  In 2006, HLT

Development received a $24,975 contract for an “adjunct services contract,” and a $24,900

contract to provide “multi-sport clinician services” for youth.  (Exh. B).

The fact that some sporting events were conducted during the period of the charged

offenses in no way mitigates the severity of Thomas’s crimes.  As Thomas has admitted, those

events were funded largely by other public resources, and not by him.  PSR ¶ 42.  Additionally,

during the same period, Thomas’s purported non-profit, Team Thomas, actively solicited private

donations and raised approximately $70,000 for the purpose of supporting youth sports camps. 

(Exh. C).  In his fund raising efforts, Thomas represented to potential donors that the money

Team Thomas raised went to support “a Swing Sports Day Camp during the week of March 24,

2008,” the very same camp that was included in a report to Public-Private Partnership #1 to

justify the first $100,000 that had been given to Langston 21.  Compare Team Thomas Fore Our

Youth Flyer (May 7, 2008) (Exh. D) with Quarterly Report submitted May 8, 2008 (Exh. E).  In

other words, Thomas was using whatever sporting events that did occur both to raise private

donations for Team Thomas and obtain grant funds for Langston 21 that he later stole.

Whenever possible, Thomas arranged for public resources to cover the expenses for

events reported to Public-Private Partnership #1 in Langston 21’s quarterly reports.  For example,

Langston 21’s first quarterly report claimed $72,400 in expenses for “instructors, coaches and

guest professional athletes” in connection with a Saturday Baseball Academy and the Swing

Sports Day Camp.  (Exh. E).  However, the only professional athletes paid for participating in the

event were actually paid by DPR, at taxpayer expense.  (Exh. F).  Similarly, members of
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Thomas’s Council staff and DPR employees worked at a Swing Sports Day Camp in March 2008

at no expense to Thomas, even though the purported expenses from that camp were used to

justify the money raised by Team Thomas and the first $100,000 payment to Langston 21. (Exh.

G).  

Thomas continued the pattern of using publicly funded events to conceal his

embezzlement throughout the course of the Langston 21 grant.  Later in 2008, Thomas contacted

an athletic coach to run a summer camp at Charles Young Elementary School.  Staff Member #1

edited a flyer for the camp, which was distributed in Thomas’s Ward and prominently displayed

Thomas’s name, and arranged for Public-Private Partnership #1 to pay the athletic coach $20,000

for the camp.  (Exh. H).  Thomas did not make any direct financial contributions to the camp and

the athletic coach operated the camp at a $10,000 personal loss.  The camp at Charles Young

Elementary School was nonetheless included in a quarterly report to Public-Private Partnership

#1 in order to justify a $100,000 disbursement to Langston 21, most of which went to Thomas. 

(Exh. E). 

Far from being a mitigating factor, Thomas’s participation in local youth events was part

and parcel of his crime.  It provided an appearance of altruism that assisted in concealing his

theft.  Moreover, Thomas publicized his role in these camps for his own political gain.   As the13

Third Circuit has noted, “if a public servant performs civic and charitable work as part of his

daily functions, these should not be considered in his sentencing because we expect such work

from our public servants.”  United States v. Serafini, 233 F.3d 758, 773 (3d Cir. 2000). 

  See, e.g., Harry L. Thomas Jr., Spring Break “Swing Sports” Day Camp a Hit , The13

Thomas Connection (April 2008).
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Whatever the value of Thomas’s accomplishments as a Council member and sports enthusiast, it

pales when compared with the harm that Thomas caused by stealing from his own constituents.

(3) The Need to Reflect the Seriousness of Thomas’s
Crimes, To Promote Respect for the Law, and to
Provide Just Punishment for the Offense

Thomas’s crimes would be extremely serious by any standard.  However, as an elected

official, Thomas agreed to be held to a higher standard of ethical conduct, imbuing his crime

with a public betrayal that has deeper ramifications than the simple theft of $353,000.  In 2009,

Thomas himself voted for a proposed code of conduct for Council members that recognized the

need of such members “to uphold ‘unusually high standards of honesty, integrity, impartiality,’

and that the ‘avoidance of misconduct and conflicts of interest on the part of council members is

indispensable.’”   14

During his tenure in office, Thomas purported to hold other elected officials to a higher

standard, particularly where city funds were involved.  In November 2009 – a year in which

Thomas stole large sums of public funds – Thomas described the city as having “just come

through one of the tightest budgets” in its history.   Further, during an appearance on a local15

radio program, Thomas was indignant as he hypocritically expressed moral outrage at what he

alleged to be the improper contracting practices of the District’s then-sitting Mayor:

There have been continued allegations or things put on the record
that show the contract and procurement system that was put in
place was inadequate. . . . [T]o then go forward and decide a
vendor on a multiple contract, who happens to have close political

  Tim Craig, D.C. Council Passes – and Barry Praises – New Ethics Code, Wash. Post14

(Sept. 22, 2009).

  Kojo Nnamdi Show (Nov. 6, 2009), available at15

http://www.youtube.com/watch?v=jXx1awARTUE. 
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and personal ties to the mayor, and so that, you know, while I don’t
believe anyone should be disallowed from doing business, I do
believe everyone should come through a process that is fair,
transparent and it – and what we have learned is far from that.16

As Thomas talked publicly about the need for good government, he secretly lined his own

pockets with money stolen from programs that would have benefitted District youth.

All the more tragic, in 2008, during the time that Thomas stole the bulk of the money at

issue, a single neighborhood in his Ward saw an outbreak of violent crime that lead to ten

homicides in a five-month period.   Thomas announced a “10-Point Plan” to combat violent17

crime, which included the need to “increase programming” in “underserved neighborhoods.”  18

Thomas subsequently touted this plan and his ability to secure funding at recreation centers as

having contributed to “eliminating crime and violence from our streets.”   Part of this funding19

included “Harry Thomas’s Ward 5 Initiative,” a plan that Thomas devised to transfer DPR funds

to Public-Private Partnership #1 for the purpose of issuing grants for youth-enrichment programs

in Ward 5.  (Exh. I).  On May 22, 2008, Thomas’s staff member emailed to DPR a list of

grantees and the amounts of money they were to receive, including the $20,000 used to pay the

athletic coach for the camp at Charles Young Elementary School, a suggested $120,000 grant to

Individual #1, and a suggested $40,000 grant to Individual #4.  (Exh. J).  The very same day, in

  Id.16

  David C. Lipscomb, Killings Subside in D.C.’s Trinidad Neighborhood, The Wash.17

Times (Dec. 10, 2009).

  See, e.g., Harry L. Thomas Jr., Thomas Announces 10-Point Plan to Address Needs of18

Youth, The Thomas Connection (May 2008).

  See, e.g., Harry L. Thomas Jr., Dear Ward 5 Residents, The Thomas Connection (Jan.19

2009).
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the midst of Thomas directing funds purportedly to help stem the violence in Ward 5, Thomas

caused Banks to divert $75,000 in District grant funds to Thomas-controlled entities.  Rather than

let these funds be used for their intended purpose – for youth programs that Thomas claimed

were vital to public safety – Thomas stole the money. 

Thomas was well aware of the benefit youth-enrichment programs could have for

children when he chose to steal the money for himself.  Given the office Thomas held and the

circumstances within his Ward at the time he committed his crimes, it is difficult to imagine a

more serious white-collar offense.

(4) The Need to Afford Adequate Deterrence 

“Public corruption demoralizes and unfairly stigmatizes the dedicated work of honest

public servants.  It undermines the essential confidence in our democracy and must be deterred if

our country and district is ever to achieve the point where the rule of law applies to all – not only

the average citizen, but to all elected and appointed officials.”  United States v. Spano, 411 F.

Supp.2d 923, 940 (N.D. Ill. 2006).  Thomas repeatedly committed criminal acts, motivated solely

by his own greed, that have done enormous damage to public confidence to the District

government.  A sentence at the top of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range is necessary to

deter other public officials from engaging in similar conduct.  Moreover, such a sentence would

demonstrate to the public that corruption by elected officials will have serious consequences.

(5) Other Sentencing Factors

A sentence at the top of the stipulated Sentencing Guideline range would be consistent

with the other Section 3553(a) factors.  Because the government’s recommendation is within

Thomas’s stipulated Sentencing Guideline range, it is in the “heartland” of sentences imposed for
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this particular offense and therefore accomplishes the goal of avoiding unwarranted sentence

disparities.  See U.S.S.G. ch 1, pt. A, cmnt 4(b).  This sentence would adequately address the

need to protect the public from future crimes by Thomas.  Finally, given Thomas’s educational

and professional background, there is no need for him to receive vocational or educational

training.  Nor does he have any medical or other treatment issues to be addressed.

Conclusion

Thomas devised and executed a scheme to defraud the District that was outrageous by

any standard; he serially engaged in criminal conduct to advance his illegal goals; and he caused

substantial harm to the District of Columbia.  Thomas’s public betrayal, abuse of his elected

office, and corruption of others warrant a sentence at the top of the stipulated Guideline range. 

Such a sentence would be sufficient but not greater than necessary, given the seriousness of the

crimes Thomas committed and the potential of the Court’s sentence, to deter other elected

officials from similarly betraying the public trust.  The government therefore recommends a

sentence of 46 months of imprisonment, followed by three years of supervised release; that
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 restitution be ordered in the agreed upon amount of $353,500; and an order of forfeiture

consistent with the terms of the parties’ plea agreement.

Respectfully submitted,

RONALD C. MACHEN JR.
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY

By:           /s/                                                         
Jonathan W. Haray, D.C. Bar 480140
Bridget M. Fitzpatrick, D.C. Bar 474946
Courtney G. Saleski, D.C. Bar 496744
Assistant United States Attorneys
United States Attorney’s Office
   for the District of Columbia
Fraud and Public Corruption Section
555 Fourth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20530
Email: jonathan.haray@usdoj.gov

bridget.fitzpatrick@usdoj.gov
courtney.saleski@usdoj.gov

JACK SMITH
Chief, Public Integrity Section

By:           /s/                                                        
Peter Mason, D.C. Bar 987804
Trial Attorney
Public Integrity Section
Criminal Division
United States Department of Justice
1400 New York Avenue, NW, Suite 12100
Washington, DC 20005
Email: peter.mason@usdoj.gov
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